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INTRODUCTION 

In May 2019, Eric Fowler possessed a sawed-off shotgun and a 

rifle on the Fort Peck Indian Reservation.  He had previously been 

convicted of several felony offenses and was a registered violent 

offender in Montana.  His conviction in this case stems from a traffic 

stop when David Moon, a Montana Highway Patrol Trooper cross-

deputized with Fort Peck Tribes, saw him driving a truck without a 

license plate on a stretch of U.S. Highway 2 that runs through the 

Reservation.  Within ninety seconds of the stop, Trooper Moon 

observed the firearms in the truck and within five minutes, learned 

that Fowler was a prohibited person.  Trooper Moon cited Fowler for 

violating tribal law and detained the Truck.  Trooper Moon obtained 

a tribal search warrant and ultimately seized the guns.   

Fowler moved to suppress the fruit of the stop in the district 

court.  He argued Trooper Moon lacked jurisdiction to investigate 

him, an Indian Person, on the reservation.  The district court found 

that Trooper Moon had the authority to investigate Fowler because 

the Tribes of the Fort Peck Indian Reservation (“the Tribes”) had 

entered into several cross-deputization agreements (“CDAs”) with 
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the Montana Highway Patrol that authorized Trooper Moon to 

enforce violations of tribal law against Indian Persons on tribal land.   

On appeal, Fowler renews his challenge to Trooper Moon’s 

jurisdiction.  He argues the CDAs were invalid because they were not 

sanctioned by the federal government.  In the alternative, he asserts 

Trooper Moon specifically lacked authority to continue the stop 

because the Tribes had not issued Trooper Moon an identification 

card as called for by the CDAs.  Fowler is wrong.  

The district court correctly held that Indian tribes operate with 

sovereignty in Indian Country and are free to enter into agreements 

with state law enforcement agencies without the United States’ 

involvement.  The court also correctly found that the Tribal executive 

board confirmed Trooper Moon’s deputization in a Tribal resolution 

and the absence of an ID card did not create a Fourth Amendment 

violation.  Finally, in any event, Trooper Moon had authority to 

conduct the initial stop and to detain the vehicle based on reasonable 

suspicion of tribal and federal crimes.  The subsequent tribal 

warrant met the requirements of the Fourth Amendment.  Trooper 

Moon did not violate Fowler’s rights.  
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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

The district court had jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. § 3231.  This 

Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1291.  Final judgment was 

entered on July 21, 2021.  ER 4.  Fowler filed a timely notice of 

appeal on August 4, 2021.  ER 137-138.   

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

1. Crimes committed in Indian Country can be subject to 

federal, state, or tribal jurisdiction, depending on the nature of the 

offense and whether the defendant or victim is an Indian Person.  

Cross-deputization agreements attempt to bridge these jurisdictional 

divides by empowering law enforcement officers from one jurisdiction 

to enforce the law in another jurisdiction.  The Tribes entered two 

CDAs with the Montana Highway Patrol, authorizing certain MHP 

Troopers to enforce Tribal law on tribal lands.  Are those CDAs valid 

without the involvement of the United States Government? 

2. The Tribes cross-deputized Trooper Moon to enforce tribal 

law on the reservation.  Did the district court err when it found that 

the tribe’s failure to issue Trooper Moon an ID card was merely a 

technical error that did not affect Trooper Moon’s status as a tribal 
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deputy and did not implicate the Fourth Amendment during a traffic 

stop on the reservation?  

3. Even without being cross-deputized, Trooper Moon had 

authority to conduct the initial stop and to detain the vehicle to 

obtain a tribal warrant. If the firearms were subsequently seized 

pursuant to a valid tribal warrant, should the evidence be 

suppressed?   

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On May 27, 2020, a grand jury in Montana indicted Fowler for 

felon in possession of firearms, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1), 

and possession of an unregistered sawed-off shotgun, in violation of 

26 U.S.C. § 5861(d).  In July 2020, Fowler moved to suppress the 

evidence obtained from the stop.  ER 142.  The district court held a 

suppression hearing in December 2020, ER 22-90, and issued a 

written order denying the motion in January 2021.  ER 21.  In April 

2021, Fowler entered into a plea agreement with the United States, 

pleaded guilty to one count of felon in possession of firearms, and 

reserved his right to appeal the denial of his motion to suppress.  ER 

148.  In July 2021, the district court sentenced Fowler to 48 months 
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of imprisonment and three years of supervised release.  ER 4-6.  This 

appeal followed.  ER 137-138. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Under Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure 34(a), the United 

States advises the Court of its view that oral argument is 

unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately 

presented in the briefs and record.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

I. The Tribes enter two cross-deputization 
agreements with the Montana Highway Patrol. 

In April 2000, the Tribes entered an agreement with several 

local law enforcement agencies entitled “Cooperative Agreement 

Providing for Cross-Deputization of Law Enforcement Officers of the 

Assiniboine and Sioux Tribes of the Fort Peck Reservation, the City 

of Wolf Point, the City of Poplar, the Montana Highway Patrol, and 

Roosevelt County.” See ER 111-130.  The goal of the 2000 CDA was 

to maximize law enforcement resources in a rural part of the State to 

address crimes that occur on the Reservation by both Indians and 

non-Indians alike.  See ER 111-112.   
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To that end, the 2000 agreement sought to “establish a 

mechanism whereby citation and arrest authority of the Tribes over 

Indians on the reservation is extended to commissioned law 

enforcement officials with the State of Montana,” and to likewise 

commission Tribal officers to enforce state law on the Reservation 

against non-Indians.  ER 112.  Additionally, the agreement specified, 

“certain officers of the local jurisdictions and MHP will be appointed 

as commissioned law enforcement officers of the Tribes….,” ER 113, 

and such law enforcement officers commissioned by the Tribes, when 

acting within the Reservation, “shall have the same authority to 

arrest Indians for violations of Titles III and IX of the Tribal code 

and shall have the same authority to issue citations and/or 

summonses and to accept bond as officers of the Tribes.”  ER 118. 

In March 2000, in accordance with Article VII, section I of the 

Tribes’ Constitution and Bylaws, the Tribes formally adopted the 

agreement by Tribal Resolution #501-2000-3.  ER 133.  In April 2000, 

all parties to the agreement, including the Montana Highway Patrol 

and the Tribes, signed it.  ER 129-130.     
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In 2003, the parties amended the 2000 CDA to add Valley 

County as an additional party to the agreement.  ER 93-110.  Apart 

from adding Valley County, the 2003 CDA has no consequential 

impact on the 2000 CDA.  See ER 93.     

II. In 2014, the Tribes commissioned MHP Trooper 
Moon under the CDAs, authorizing him to enforce 
tribal law against Indians on the Reservation.   

On November 10, 2014, the Tribes passed Tribal Resolution 

#27-1309-2014-11.  It stated, in relevant part, 

WHEREAS, the Fort Peck Tribes Law and Justice 
Department is submitting the following Montana 
Highway Patrol officers for enforcement of the Fort Peck 
Tribes CCOJ under the Reciprocal Cross Deputization 
Agreement: …David Moon…. 
 
Now THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Fort 
Peck Tribal Executive Board hereby accept the names 
and grants tribal arrest authority under the Reciprocal 
Cross deputization agreement. 
 

SER 6.  Additionally, in January 2016, the Tribes passed tribal 

resolution #28-0291-2016-01, which stated, in relevant part: 

Whereas, now it is affirmed, through the understanding 
of the Agreement, that once law enforcement officers have 
been commissioned by the Tribes they retain their Cross-
Deputization authority continuous from year to year until 
the end of their employment with their specific agency or 
unless they have been specifically suspended or revoked 
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for failing to comply with the policies and/or regulations 
of the Tribes, now 
 
Therefore Be It Resolved, that the Fort Peck Tribal 
Executive Board recognizes that once a law enforcement 
officer is commissioned by an agency their Cross-
Deputization authority is continuous, unless otherwise 
provided as per IX (A) of the Agreement. 
 

SER 5.  

III. Trooper Moon conducts a traffic stop on the 
reservation and sees a gun in the vehicle in plain 
view. 

On May 5, 2019, Trooper Moon was patrolling a stretch of U.S. 

Highway 2 that runs through the Fort Peck Indian Reservation in 

northeastern Montana.  ER 32.  He observed a truck that was 

driving without a license plate or temporary tag.  ER 32-33.  Trooper 

Moon activated his lights and the truck eventually pulled into a 

parking lot.  ER 33-34.   

As Trooper Moon approached the truck, the driver exited the 

front seat and stood next to the open driver’s door.  ER 34.  This was 

not typical and placed Trooper Moon on guard to determine if the 

driver posed a threat.  ER 34-35.  When Trooper Moon got closer, he 

could see a pry bar lying on the floor next to the driver’s seat.  ER 35.  

Trooper Moon identified the driver as Fowler because he knew 
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Fowler had been on probation with the State of Montana.  ER 36.  

Trooper Moon also saw a female passenger in the truck.  Id. 

Trooper Moon moved Fowler away from the truck for officer 

safety and frisked him for weapons but found none.  ER 35-36.  

Trooper Moon then had Fowler move to the rear of the truck and 

lean against the bumper.  ER 36-37.  While Fowler was at the rear of 

the truck, he asked Trooper Moon if he could turn the truck off and 

look under the hood because it was steaming.  ER 37.  Trooper Moon 

allowed Fowler to look under the hood but did not allow him to turn 

off the truck.  Id.  Instead, he requested that the passenger turn off 

the ignition.  Id. 

Trooper Moon stood by the open driver’s side door while Fowler 

looked under the hood.  ER 37-38.  From there, he could see inside 

the truck and observed a rifle with a scope in the rear portion of the 

cab on the floorboard.  ER 38-39.  At that point, Trooper Moon had 

the passenger exit the truck and had both Fowler and the passenger 

stay by the trunk’s bumper.  ER 38-40.  Trooper Moon then called 

dispatch and conducted records checks on both Fowler and the 

passenger.  ER 41.   
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The records’ checks revealed that Fowler was a registered 

violent offender with the State of Montana, that he did not have a 

valid driver’s license, and he was uninsured.  ER 41-42.  The 

passenger’s license was also suspended.  At this point, Trooper Moon 

confirmed that Fowler was an Indian Person.  ER 43-44. 

IV. Trooper Moon issues Tribal citations to Fowler and 
detains the truck pending a search warrant. 

Faced with two unlicensed occupants and several traffic 

violations, Trooper Moon detained the truck but allowed Fowler and 

the passenger to leave the area on their own recognizance.  ER 42.  

Before releasing Fowler, and acting under the authority of his tribal 

deputization, Trooper Moon issued tribal citations for driving on a 

suspended license, failing to carry insurance, and driving without a 

seatbelt, and a warning for driving without a license plate.  ER 42-

43; SER 1-3.  The citations commanded Fowler to appear in tribal 

court to answer the charges.  See SER 1-3.   

Before departing the scene, Fowler asked for his coat, which 

was in the truck. ER 48-49.  Trooper Moon received permission from 

Fowler to retrieve the coat, and while doing so, observed drug 

paraphernalia—a blue grinder commonly used in the smoking of 
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marijuana—in the pocket of the driver’s door.  ER 49.  Thereafter, 

Trooper Moon, who was also a K-9 handler, deployed his dog 

“Sammy” around the exterior of the truck.  ER 51.  Sammy showed 

alert behavior at the driver’s door.  ER 52-53.  Trooper Moon 

subsequently obtained a tribal warrant to search the truck and 

recovered a rifle and a sawed-off shotgun. ER 53.  

V. Fowler moves to suppress evidence obtained from 
the stop, arguing Trooper Moon lacked jurisdiction 
to investigate him, an Indian Person, on the 
reservation.   

The grand jury ultimately indicted Fowler for felon in 

possession of firearms, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1) and 

possession of an unregistered sawed-off shotgun, in violation of 26 

U.S.C. § 5861(d).  ER 134-136.   

Fowler moved to suppress the evidence against him in district 

court, arguing Trooper Moon exceeded his authority when he stopped 

Fowler, a tribal member, on the Fort Peck Indian Reservation.  ER 

11.  He reasoned that the 2003 CDA was invalid because the United 

States, via the Bureau of Indian Affairs, issued a letter in February 

2016 notifying the Tribes that because the federal government was 

not part of that agreement, none of the cross-deputized officers under 
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the agreement would be treated as federal employees under the 

BIA’s Special Law Enforcement Commission (“SLEC”) program.  ER 

16, 91-92.  He additionally argued that Trooper Moon lacked 

authority to conduct the stop because the Tribes had not issued him 

an ID card to prove his status as a tribal deputy under the CDAs.  

ER 20. 

The court held an evidentiary hearing in December 2020, 

during which Trooper Moon testified about the stop and his cross-

deputization status.  See ER 22-90.  In January 2021, the district 

court denied Fowler’s motion in a written opinion discussing each of 

Fowler’s arguments.   ER 11-21.   

With respect to the validity of the CDAs, the district court 

found that Fowler’s position confused the concept of a CDA between 

the Tribes and the State of Montana with SLEC agreements between 

the Tribes and the federal government.  ER 16.  The district court 

further found that the requirements of a SLEC agreement are 

irrelevant to the question of whether the Tribes could empower state 

law enforcement officials like Trooper Moon to enforce tribal law 

against tribal persons on tribal lands.  See ER 17.  The court also 
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found that the Tribes authorized Trooper Moon to enforce tribal laws 

by tribal resolution and his authority continued through May 2019.  

ER 17.  Finally, the district found that even if the 2003 amended 

CDA was deficient, the 2000 CDA contained the signature of the BIA 

and therefore would only serve to impact Valley County as a party to 

the agreement.  ER 17. 

With respect to the traffic stop, the district court found that 

Trooper Moon possessed limited authority as an MHP Trooper to 

enforce state law on Highway 2 against non-tribal members within 

the boundaries of the reservation, and that he had reasonable 

suspicion to initiate the stop of Fowler’s truck because it had no 

license plate.  ER 18-19.  The court found that once Trooper Moon 

recognized Fowler as a tribal member, his authority to enforce state 

law expired, but his authority to enforce tribal law under the CDAs 

commenced.  ER 19.  The court thus held Trooper Moon did not 

exceed his authority during the stop.  Id. 

Finally, with respect to the lack of an ID card, the district court 

found that the primary purpose for the issuance of ID cards was to 

show anyone who may ask the officer’s authority for making the stop.  
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See ER 20.  The court found that Fowler never asked to see Trooper 

Moon’s ID card and therefore was not prejudiced by the Tribe’s 

failure to issue one.  Id.  The court thus concluded that the Tribes’ 

oversight was, at worst, a violation of the Tribe’s police policy that 

would not require suppression of evidence under the Fourth 

Amendment.  ER 20-21. 

VI. Fowler pleads guilty to felon in possession of a 
firearm and appeals the denial of his motion to 
suppress. 

In April 2021, Fowler entered a plea agreement with the 

United States, pleaded guilty to one count of felon in possession of a 

firearm, and retained his right to appeal the district court’s denial of 

his motion to suppress.  See ER 148.  On July 21, 2021, the district 

court sentenced him to 48 months of imprisonment followed by three 

years of supervised release.  ER 4-10.  This appeal followed. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

I.  Trooper Moon complied with the Fourth Amendment during 

the stop of Fowler in May 2019.  Under his state law enforcement 

authority, Trooper Moon could lawfully conduct a traffic stop on a 

U.S. Highway that runs through an Indian reservation to enforce 
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state laws against non-Indian travelers.  He had reasonable 

suspicion to initiate the stop when he observed a truck driving 

without a license plate.  Once Trooper Moon identified Fowler as an 

Indian person, his authority as a state law enforcement officer 

expired, but his authority as a cross-deputized tribal officer 

commenced.  His investigation of Fowler was a valid exercise of that 

authority.   

Contrary to Fowler’s assertion, neither the 2000 nor the 2003 

CDAs required the federal government’s involvement for either 

agreement to take effect.   Moreover, the Tribes’ failure to issue 

Trooper Moon an ID card did not affect his cross-deputization status.  

The district court correctly held that there was no constitutional 

violation that suppression could remedy in this case.   

II.  Even if Trooper Moon was not cross-deputized, he had the 

authority as a state law enforcement officer to detain Fowler, whom 

he observed violating tribal and federal law, for appropriate action by 

proper legal authorities.  Moreover, an officer’s jurisdictional 

authority is not a basis for suppression of evidence that was 

otherwise obtained in compliance with the Fourth Amendment.   
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Trooper Moon stopped Fowler pursuant to his authority to 

police the highways after he observed a violation of state and tribal 

traffic law.  While investigating the traffic offense, he observed a 

known probationer in possession of firearms, a clear violation of 

federal law.  At that point, Trooper Moon could have detained Fowler 

for tribal or even federal authorities.  Because Trooper Moon’s 

actions complied with the Fourth Amendment, there is no basis to 

suppress the evidence gathered in this case.   

ARGUMENT 

I. Trooper Moon complied with the Fourth 
Amendment during a traffic stop of an Indian 
driver on the Fort Peck Indian Reservation. 

Standard of Review:  The district court’s ruling on a motion 

to suppress is subject to de novo review.  United States v. Adjani, 452 

F.3d 1140, 1143 (9th Cir. 2006).  This Court reviews a district court’s 

factual findings at a suppression hearing for clear error and its 

application of the law de novo.  United States v. Mattarolo, 209 F.3d 

1153, 1155–56 (9th Cir. 2000). 

 Argument:  If a search and seizure complied with federal 

constitutional standards, the evidence is admissible in Federal 
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Court.  United States v. Miranda-Guerena, 445 F.3d 1233 (9th Cir. 

2006).  Here, Trooper Moon’s investigation of Fowler complied with 

the Fourth Amendment.  

A. Trooper Moon had Jurisdiction to investigate 
highway offenses in Indian Country 

Offenses committed in Indian country can be subject to federal, 

state, or tribal jurisdiction depending on the severity of the crime 

and on whether the offender and/or victim are tribal members.  

United States v. Patch, 114 F.3d 131, 133 (9th Cir. 1997).  Here, the 

section of Highway 2 that runs through the Fort Peck Reservation is 

subject to overlapping jurisdiction. 

The Supreme Court has long held that Indian tribes are unique 

aggregations possessing attributes of sovereignty over both their 

members and their territory.  United States v. Mazurie, 419 U.S. 544, 

557 (1975).  Thus, the Tribes have inherent authority to enforce 

tribal law against Indian Persons on the section of highway that runs 

across the reservation.  But the Tribes “lack inherent sovereign 

power to exercise criminal jurisdiction over non-Indians.”  United 

States v. Cooley, 141 S. Ct. 1638, 1643 (2021).   
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Under Montana law, Highway Patrol officers “are considered 

police officers for the purpose of making arrests for all offenses 

occurring on the highways, highway rest areas, state highway 

properties adjacent to the highway, or involving the use of motor 

vehicles or the registration thereof and for the purpose of serving 

warrants of arrest in connection with such violations.”  Mont. Code 

Ann. § 44-1-1003.  Accordingly, MHP Troopers have the authority to 

enforce state laws on Highway 2 against non-Indian travelers.   

As a practical matter, without a stop and inquiry, it is 

impossible for an officer to tell who is operating an offending vehicle.  

Patch, 114 F.3d at 133–34.  Thus, the starting point is to determine 

whether Trooper Moon had the authority to stop Fowler’s truck in 

the first place.  See Id. 

B. Trooper Moon lawfully initiated a traffic stop 
based on reasonable suspicion that the driver 
had violated state law.   

A police officer may stop a suspect to investigate suspicious 

circumstances when he has a reasonable suspicion that criminal 

activity is afoot.  Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 30 (1968).  Reasonable 

suspicion exists when the officer can “point to specific and articulable 
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facts, which taken together with rational inferences from those facts, 

reasonably warrant the intrusion.”  Id. at 21.  Applying this 

principal, the Supreme Court holds that law enforcement agents may 

briefly stop a moving automobile to investigate a reasonable 

suspicion that its occupants are involved in criminal activity.  United 

States v. Hensley, 469 U.S. 221, 226 (1985); United States v. 

Brignoni–Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 880 (1975).  Additionally, a police 

officer may make brief stops of suspicious individuals to determine 

their identity or to obtain more information.  Adams v. Williams, 407 

U.S. 143, 146 (1972). 

Trooper Moon testified at the suppression hearing that he 

observed Fowler’s truck driving along the highway without a license 

plate displayed.  ER 32-33.  That is a violation MCA § 61-3-301(1)(a), 

which states, “A person may not operate a motor vehicle…upon the 

public highways of Montana unless the motor vehicle…is properly 

registered and has the proper license plates conspicuously displayed 

on the motor vehicle….”  Trooper Moon thus had reasonable 

suspicion to initiate the stop, and consistent with the Fourth 

Amendment, was authorized to ascertain the identity of the driver. 
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C. During the stop, Trooper Moon’s jurisdiction 
to investigate Fowler shifted from his 
authority as a state law enforcement officer to 
his authority as a cross-deputized tribal 
officer. 

Indian tribes’ unique status as domestic dependent nations 

results in a complex jurisdictional scheme that hampers law 

enforcement in Indian Country.  Los Coyotes Band of Cahuilla & 

Cupeno Indians v. Jewell, 729 F.3d 1025, 1030 (9th Cir. 2013).  To 

combat this problem, many tribes have entered into cross-

deputization agreements with state law enforcement agencies.  These 

agreements “authorize one entity’s law enforcement officers to issue 

citations, make custodial arrests, and otherwise act as enforcement 

officers in the territory of another entity.”  Kevin Morrow, Bridging 

the Jurisdictional Void: Cross-Deputization Agreements in Indian 

Country, 94 N.D.L. Rev. 65, 67 (2019).   

Here, the Tribes entered two CDAs with the Montana Highway 

Patrol – one in 2000, see ER 111-133, and one in 2003.  See ER 93-

110.  Relevant to this discussion, those agreements contemplated the 

commissioning of certain MHP Troopers as tribal deputies when 

acting within the Fort Peck Indian Reservation and granted them 

Case: 21-30172, 02/01/2022, ID: 12357512, DktEntry: 14, Page 26 of 49



21 
 

“the same authority to arrest Indians for violations of Titles III and 

IX of the Tribal code and…the same authority to issue citations 

and/or summonses and to accept bond as officers of the Tribes.”  ER 

100, ER 118.  In 2014, the Tribes passed Tribal Resolution #27-1309-

2014-11, which commissioned Trooper Moon under the 2000 and 

2003 CDAs.  SER 6.  From that point forward, Trooper Moon had 

Tribal authority to investigate Indian Persons for violations of tribal 

law while on the Reservation. 

Returning to the stop at issue, Trooper Moon testified at the 

suppression hearing that once he identified Fowler and established 

that he was an Indian, the matter became a tribal investigation: 

Q: Were you able to determine during the stop whether or 
not Mr. Fowler was a member of either the Assiniboine or 
Sioux Tribes of the Fort Peck Indian Reservation or any 
other federally recognized tribe of Indians? 

 
A: Yes, sir. 

Q: Alright.  How did you make that determination? 

A: I don’t know if he told me or if the sergeant who assisted 
me told me, or I knew it from the probation officer.  
Because in the video, I did not ask him. 

 
Q: Okay.  So, you mentioned somebody else that come to 

assist you.  So was there other officers that came to the 
scene at some point? 
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A: Yes, sir. 
 
Q:   When did that take place: 
 
A: Probably—well, right after I got that he was a violent 

offender, and she was there within a minute, I think. 
 
Q: Okay.  So you would have already had Mr. Fowler and 

[the passenger] at the rear of the truck when you were 
radioing in to do the records check on them, around that 
time is when you believe additional law enforcement 
would have shown up on scene? 

 
A: Yes, sir. 
 
… 
 
Q: So, when you wrote Mr. Fowler some citations, did those 

citations direct Mr. Fowler to appear in state court or in 
tribal court? 

 
A: Tribal court. 

Q: And why is that? 

A: Because he is a tribal member, and the offense took place 
on the tribal reservation. 

 
ER 43-44.   

The citations themselves confirm that Trooper Moon cited 

Fowler for several violations of tribal law, and he was ordered to 

appear in tribal court to answer for the offenses.  SER 1-3.  

Consequently, although the investigation originated under Trooper 
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Moon’s state law enforcement authority, it clearly shifted to a tribal 

investigation once Trooper Moon confirmed that Fowler was an 

Indian.  Thus, Trooper Moon’s continued investigation remained a 

lawful exercise of jurisdiction throughout the stop. 

D. Fowler’s challenge to the CDAs confuses the 
Tribes’ authority to enter agreements with 
state agencies with other methods by which a 
non-tribal law enforcement agency may obtain 
jurisdiction to investigate crimes in Indian 
Country.     

As a threshold matter, Fowler does not challenge Trooper 

Moon’s particular investigative actions during the stop as 

unlawful—i.e., that he lacked reasonable suspicion for the stop, that 

he impermissibly extended the stop to conduct a sniff-search, that 

the search warrant was defective, etc.  Instead, he argues that 

Trooper Moon exceeded his jurisdiction to investigate because the 

CDAs under which he was cross-deputized were not sanctioned by 

the federal government and was therefore an invalid exercise of the 

State of Montana’s criminal jurisdiction into Indian Country.  See 

App. Br. at 12-16.  This argument ignores the Tribes’ inherent 

sovereign authority to regulate conduct that threatens the health or 

welfare of the tribe and rests on the mistaken premise that Trooper 

Case: 21-30172, 02/01/2022, ID: 12357512, DktEntry: 14, Page 29 of 49



24 
 

Moon was impermissibly exercising state criminal jurisdiction 

throughout the stop.   

Tribes retain “inherent sovereign authority to address conduct 

[that] threatens or has some direct effect on ... the health or welfare 

of the tribe.”  Cooley, 141 S.Ct. at 1641.  And, when it comes to 

jurisdiction to enforce tribal law, courts recognize that tribes may 

employ police officers to aid in the enforcement of tribal law and in 

the exercise of tribal power.”  Ortiz-Barraza v. United States, 512 

F.2d 1176, 1179 (9th Cir. 1975).  In the exercise of that authority, 

many tribes enter into cross-deputization agreements with state law 

enforcement agencies as one of the means to fill the jurisdictional 

void created by separate jurisdictions on an Indian reservation.  See 

Bridging the Jurisdictional Void, 94 N.D.L. Rev. at 68.   

In 2000, the Tribes entered into such an agreement with 

various local agencies, including the Montana Highway Patrol.  As 

the district court correctly found, the 2000 CDA constitutes a 

provision of the Tribes’ governing law, equivalent to a section of the 

United States Code or the Montana Code, and enacted the 2000 CDA 

pursuant to Article VII, Section 1 of its Constitution and Bylaws.  ER 
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15 (citing Fourstar v. Riden, 2018 WL 6421736, at *2 (D. Mont. 

2018).1  Furthermore, the district court correctly found that the 

Tribal Executive Board adopted tribal resolutions incorporating the 

2000 CDA and deputizing Trooper Moon.  ER 16, 133; SER 5-6.   

Ultimately, the effect of those actions was to empower Trooper 

Moon to exercise the Tribes’ jurisdiction to enforce tribal law over 

Indians on the Fort Peck Indian Reservation.  And the Tribes’ own 

authority to grant this power to Trooper Moon flows from its 

inherent sovereign authority to address conduct that threatens the 

health or welfare of the tribe.  Cooley, 141 S.Ct. at 1641.   

Returning to the stop at issue, when Trooper Moon identified 

Fowler as an Indian person on the reservation, his state criminal 

jurisdiction ended.  However, at the same time, his tribal criminal 

jurisdiction commenced.  He pursued the remainder of the 

investigation wearing his tribal law enforcement officer hat.  Thus, 

Fowler’s characterization of the stop as in impermissible exercise of 

 
1 See also Fort Peck Tribes Comprehensive Code of Justice, 

available at https://static1.squarespace.com/static/594c44e 
12cba5ec4cb294563/t/5dae246e499b5e7b46c93010/1571693695114/C
COJ-Complete-10-21-19+protected.pdf (accessed January 21, 2022). 
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state criminal jurisdiction is simply erroneous and ignores the 

Tribes’ inherent sovereign authority to enforce its own laws within 

its own borders against its own members.   

Fowler points to a letter written by BIA Special Agent Doug 

Noseep in February 2016 advising the Tribes that the 2003 CDA did 

not meet the requirements of the BIA’s SLEC program, as 

tantamount to the federal government’s disavowal of the CDAs 

between the Tribes and MHP.  See App. Br. at 13-15.  He reasons 

that without the BIA’s approval, the CDAs between the Tribes and 

MHP have no validity.  App. Br. 14.  Fowler’s argument again 

confuses the law.   

The background to the BIA’s SLEC program was discussed in 

detail by the court in Hopland Band of Pomo Indians v. Norton, 324 

F. Supp. 2d 1067, 1072 (N.D. Cal. 2004): 

The enforcement of federal criminal statutes (as opposed to 
state, tribal or local criminal statutes) on tribal lands has 
traditionally been the responsibility of the Department of 
the Interior’s Bureau of Indian Affairs. This function was 
arguably performed without express statutory authority 
until 1990 when Congress provided the BIA with express 
authority under the Indian Law Enforcement Reform Act 
to enforce federal law on Indian lands. 25 U.S.C. 2802(a).  
Significantly, in carrying out this statutory responsibility, 
the BIA (in addition to maintaining its own police force) 
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has been authorized to enter into deputation agreements 
with tribes to enforce federal law, maintain a qualified 
force and to deputize qualified tribal police officers to 
enforce federal law on Indian lands. Individuals receive 
such authority via a “special law enforcement commission” 
or “SLEC.” To this end, the ILERA specifically provides 
that: 
 

The Secretary may enter into an agreement for the 
use (with or without reimbursement) of the personnel 
or facilities of a Federal, tribal, State, or other 
government agency to aid in the enforcement of 
carrying out in Indian country of a law of either the 
United States or an Indian tribe that has authorized 
the Secretary to enforce tribal laws. 

 
In short, the BIA’s SLEC program provides a way for the federal 

government to deputize tribal officers to enforce federal law on a 

particular reservation.  Accordingly, such agreements require federal 

approval from the Secretary of the Interior or his or her designee.  

The existence of federal cross-deputization statutes that grant Indian 

tribes some degree of authority to enforce federal law, however, do 

not show that Congress sought to deny a tribe the inherent sovereign 

authority to regulate conduct within its reservation that threatens or 

has some effect on the health or welfare of the tribe.  See Cooley, 141 

S.Ct. at 1646. 
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 The CDAs at issue here did not purport to empower the parties 

to enforce federal law on the Fort Peck Indian Reservation.  Rather, 

they sought to—and did—authorize state law enforcement officials to 

enforce tribal law and tribal officers to enforce state law on the 

reservation depending on whether the subject was an Indian or non-

Indian.  The 2016 SA Noseep letter merely serves notice that no 

party to the CDA would be deputized to enforce federal law on the 

reservation.  But again, that is not what the CDAs sought to do.   

Trooper Moon never claimed that his investigation arose from 

any grant of federal authority.  He testified that his authorization to 

investigate Fowler flowed from the Tribes: 

Q: So on May 19th, 2019, when you encountered Mr. Fowler 
and [the passenger] in that truck, the incident you 
testified about earlier, were you operating in any capacity 
as a federal law enforcement officer?  

 
A: No, sir. 

Q: What was your capacity at that point? 

A: I was acting under the authority of the Fort Peck Tribes. 

ER 48.  And the mere existence of the BIA SLEC program or other 

federal deputization statute does not signify an intent by Congress to 

divest the Tribes of their inherent authority to regulate conduct on 
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the reservation that threatens its safety or welfare.  See Cooley, 141 

S.Ct. at 1646. 

 The district court rightfully concluded that neither the BIA’s 

SLEC program nor Special Agent Noseep’s letter has any impact on 

the validity of the CDAs between the Tribes and the MHP.  Fowler’s 

appeal to the contrary should be denied.   

E. The Tribes’ failure to issue an ID card did not 
impact Trooper Moon’s tribal authority. 

Fowler argues in the alternative that even if the CDAs between 

the Tribes and the MHP were valid, the evidence against him must 

be suppressed because Trooper Moon failed to carry an ID card 

signifying his cross-deputization status.  See App. Br. at 17-20.  To 

support this argument, Fowler points to Section VI, paragraph 1 of 

the CDAs, entitled “Identification,” which state, in relevant part,  

All commissioning agencies shall issue identification cards, 
and may issue insignia to officers commissioned to this 
Agreement.  All commissioned law enforcement officers 
must wear their insignia, if issued, and carry the 
identification cards with them at all times while acting 
under the authority of the commissioning 
agency....Commissioned law enforcement officers must 
immediately display these identification cards to 
individuals upon request. 
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ER 103, 122.  Fowler asserts that Trooper Moon’s failure to carry a 

card put him in violation of the agreement and deprived him of 

jurisdiction to enforce tribal law on the reservation.  Fowler is again 

mistaken. 

The district court correctly found that suppression was not an 

appropriate remedy for the failure to carry an ID card.  As an initial 

matter, Fowler has not shown that the absence of an ID card would 

constitute a violation of tribal law, particularly where Trooper Moon 

was wearing a tribal insignia and display of an ID card was not 

requested.  But more to the point, for suppression to be the 

appropriate remedy, the stop must be unreasonable under the 

United States Constitution, rather than merely out of compliance 

with state or tribal laws.  See Virginia v. Moore, 553 U.S. 164, 176 

(2008) (“[S]tate restrictions [on arrest authority] do not alter the 

Fourth Amendment’s protections.”);  United States v. Becerra–

Garcia, 397 F.3d 1167, 1174–75 (9th Cir. 2005).  

In Becerra-Garcia, tribal rangers who lacked authority to 

detain under tribal law conducted a stop and detention.  Becerra–

Garcia, 397 F.3d at 1174.  The Ninth Circuit determined that “the 
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legality of the seizure does not depend on the rangers’ authority 

under tribal law,” but reasonableness under the Fourth Amendment.  

Id.  A few years later, the Supreme Court came to the same 

conclusion with respect to violations of state law.  Moore, 553 U.S. at 

176. 

Here, Trooper Moon was commissioned under the CDAs to 

enforce tribal law on the reservation: 

Q: How did you come to be authorized, to the best of your 
understanding, to write tickets to tribal members on 
the Fort Peck Indian Reservation? 

 
A: Had to go through four steps.  Initially, did a 

background check, they did a background check on 
me.  Then, it had to go to criminal jurisdiction in 
Indian Country training.  Then I went through a 
cultural awareness training put on by Captain 
Summers.  And then I went in front of the tribal 
council. 

 
Q: And Captain Summers is with – he’s with on e of the 

local law enforcement entities on the Fort Peck 
Indian Reservation? 

 
A: Yes, sir.  The Fort Peck Tribal Police. 
 
Q:   All right.  And once you went through that four-step 

process, is it your understanding that you were then 
authorized to – well, what was your understanding 
after going through that four-step process?  What 
were you authorized to do at that point? 
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A: I was told by my sergeant that I was authorized to 
make stops on the reservation for tribal and nontribal 
members, and cite them into whatever court was 
appropriate. 

 
ER 45.   

The Tribes enactment of Tribal resolution #27-1309-2014-11 in 

November 2014, granted Trooper Moon “tribal arrest authority under 

the Reciprocal Cross deputization agreement.”  SER 5-6.  That 

resolution had the effect of deputizing Trooper Moon as a matter of 

tribal law.  See Fourstar, 2018 WL 6421736 at *2 (explaining that 

through the cross-deputization agreement the Tribes have “made the 

State’s agents tribal agents and authorized them to exercise tribal 

jurisdiction” (emphasis in original)).   

It is undisputed that Trooper Moon was not carrying an ID card 

to signify his cross-deputization status during the Fowler stop, but 

he was wearing a uniform badge that was issued to prove his status 

as a cross-deputized officer.  ER 53-55.  Contrary to Fowler’s 

assertion, Trooper Moon’s lack of an ID card was not due to his 

oversight, or “lack of reverence” for the agreement under which he 

was cross-deputized, see App. Br. at 19; rather, the Tribes never 

issued one to him.  ER 103, 122.  Thus, Trooper Moon’s failure to 
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carry an ID card was not his failing, but a decision by the tribal 

agency.  As in Becerra-Garcia, however, even if failure to carry an ID 

put the Trooper out of strict compliance with tribal law, mere lack of 

compliance with tribal law is not a violation of the Fourth 

Amendment.   

The exclusionary rule “is not an individual right and applies 

only where it results in appreciable deterrence.” Herring v. United 

States, 555 U.S. 135, 140 (2009).  The Supreme Court recognizes that 

the exclusion of evidence “has always been our last resort, not our 

first impulse.”  Id. at 140-41.  “The rule’s costly toll upon truth-

seeking and law enforcement objectives presents a high obstacle for 

those urging its application.”  Id.  “[A]n assessment of the flagrancy 

of the police misconduct constitutes an important step in the calculus 

of applying the exclusionary rule.”  Id.  Additionally, “[t]o trigger the 

exclusionary rule, police conduct must be sufficiently deliberate that 

exclusion can meaningfully deter it, and sufficiently culpable that 

such deterrence is worth the price paid by the justice system.” United 

States v. Al Nasser, 555 F.3d 722, 726 (9th Cir. 2009). 
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Here, it would make little sense to suppress evidence gathered 

by Trooper Moon who, acting under color of tribal law, supported by 

codified tribal resolution, and wearing tribally issued insignia of 

authority, investigated an Indian Person on the reservation for 

committing tribal offenses, merely because the Tribes did not also 

issue him an ID card.  And, apart from the challenge to jurisdiction, 

Fowler does not allege that Trooper Moon’s investigative conduct 

otherwise violated the Fourth Amendment.  There is simply no 

deliberate act of police misconduct here that would be deterred by 

suppression of evidence.  Thus, the district court correctly concluded 

that Fowler was not prejudiced by Trooper Moon’s lack of an ID card.  

This Court should reach the same conclusion.   

II. Even if there was a technical issue with Trooper 
Moon’s cross-deputization, he had the authority to 
detain the truck for appropriate authorities.   

Even setting aside the cross-deputization agreement, Fowler’s 

argument for suppression springs from a fundamental 

misunderstanding of the Fourth Amendment as it relates to the 

cross-jurisdictional questions in Indian Country.  The basic concern 

with respect to jurisdictional questions springs from the prospect of a 
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foreign sovereign exercising its legal processes of arrest and 

prosecution, not the ability of sovereigns to reasonably detain those 

engaged in illegal conduct for appropriate legal action by proper 

authorities.  See, e.g., Duro v. Reina, 495 U.S. 676, 696-697 (1990) 

(“Where jurisdiction to try and punish an offender rests outside the 

tribe, tribal officers may exercise their power to detain the offender 

and transport him to the proper authorities.”); Cooley, 141 S.Ct. at 

1641 (holding tribal police officer may conduct a Terry stop and 

detain a non-Indian on reservation right-of-ways in order to turn him 

over to state or federal authorities for further investigation); State v. 

Harrington, 148. N.M. 500, (2010) (“[S]tate officers have the 

authority to enter Indian country to investigate off-reservation 

crimes committed by Indians, so long as their investigation does not 

infringe on tribal sovereignty by circumventing or contravening a 

governing tribal procedure.”). 

Moreover, jurisdictional authority is not a basis for suppression 

of evidence that was otherwise obtained in compliance with the 

Fourth Amendment.  See, e.g., United States v. Ryan, 731 F.3d 66, 

69-71 (1st Cir. 2013) (holding that an arrest made by a federal law 
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enforcement officer acting outside his statutory jurisdiction did not 

violate the Fourth Amendment); United States v. Sed, 601 F.3d 224, 

229 & n.2 (3d Cir. 2010) (holding that a stop made by an officer 

outside of his jurisdiction did not violate the Fourth Amendment and 

observing that “[a]s the Supreme Court noted in Whren v. United 

States, [517 U.S. 806, 817 (1996),] the balancing of Fourth 

Amendment factors is rarely in doubt when a search or seizure is 

based on probable cause”); Rose v. City of Mulberry, 533 F.3d 678, 

680 (8th Cir. 2008) (finding that “an arrest by a city police officer 

outside of his jurisdiction but made with probable cause” did not 

violate the Fourth Amendment). 

In this case, Fowler was not subjected to any legal processes of 

the State of Montana.  He was not arrested, tried, or punished by the 

State.  All of Trooper Moon’s actions—from stopping Fowler initially, 

to detaining him briefly for a Terry stop founded on reasonable 

suspicion, and holding Fowler’s truck for search pursuant to a 

warrant issued by a proper authority—were each consistent with the 

Fourth Amendment. 
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Trooper Moon stopped Fowler pursuant to his authority to 

police rights-of-way through the reservation and to determine the 

appropriate jurisdiction for continued investigation and prosecution.  

See Patch, 114 F.3d at 133.  Within 90 seconds of initiating the stop, 

Trooper Moon observed firearms in the truck in plain view, 2 and 

within five minutes of the stop, he learned that Fowler was a 

registered violent offender who was on probation.  See ER 56.  At 

that point, it became clear that Fowler—unlicensed and uninsured—

could not legally be on the road under tribal law; and, as a 

probationer, could not be allowed to access the guns in the truck 

under federal law.  

At that point, Trooper Moon—even if he were not himself cross-

deputized—could have detained Fowler for tribal or federal 

 
2 Here, Fowler’s actions in getting out of the vehicle 

immediately created officer safety concerns that necessitated Trooper 
Moon to secure the situation.  See Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323, 
330 (2009) (recognizing “that traffic stops are especially fraught with 
danger to police officers” and “[t]he risk of harm to both the police 
and occupants [of a stopped vehicle] is minimized . . . if officers 
routinely exercise unquestioned command of the situation” (citations 
omitted)).  Fowler then asked to be able to address steam rising from 
under the hood of his vehicle prior to the normal processing of the 
stop, at which point Moon observed the firearms.  ER 37-38. 
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authorities.  He, of course, was not obligated to stand aside and 

release Fowler and his truck to continue in the commission of a 

federal felony and tribal traffic offenses. 

Rather than detaining Fowler, however, Trooper Moon instead 

held the vehicle for appropriate legal process under tribal law.  The 

tribal court to which Fowler was subject, then issued the search 

warrant, leading to the seizure of the contraband.  ER 53.  Because 

Fowler himself could have been temporarily detained, he has no 

Fourth Amendment basis to complain of temporary seizure of the 

vehicle.  Nor as a tribal member does he have a basis to complain 

about the jurisdiction of the tribal court to issue the search warrant. 

Assuming arguendo that Trooper Moon was not cross-

deputized, Fowler might contend that Trooper Moon lacked 

jurisdiction to seek and execute such a warrant.  This Court, 

however, has rejected such contentions as not relevant to the Fourth 

Amendment inquiry.   

For example, in United States v. Artis, 919 F.3d 1123 (9th Cir. 

2019), federal agents executed two search warrants issued by state 

court judges.  Id. at 1126.  The warrants themselves were valid, but 
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the federal agents were not authorized to execute them under 

California law.  Id.  The Ninth Circuit rejected the defendant’s 

argument that a Fourth Amendment violation had occurred because 

the federal agents lacked authority under state law to execute the 

warrants.  Id. at 1129-1130.  The court observed that “[t]he identity 

of the executing officers—federal agents versus peace officers [under 

California law]—does not implicate any interest protected by the 

Fourth Amendment.”  Id. at 1128-1129.  As the Court explained, 

“[n]o greater intrusion upon protected privacy or property interests 

occurred by virtue of the fact that the searches were conducted by 

federal agents as opposed to, say, city police officers.”  Id. at 1129.  

Because “[a]n otherwise properly issued search warrant is not 

rendered void for Fourth Amendment purposes merely because it 

was executed by law enforcement officers who lacked warrant-

executing authority under state law,” the court concluded that the 

defendant had not been subject to a Fourth Amendment violation.  

Id. at 1130. 

Similarly in this case, even if the cross-deputization agreement 

was problematic, which it is not, there was “no greater intrusion 
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upon protected privacy or property interests” by virtue of the identity 

of the officer, and all of Trooper Moon’s actions fall safely within the 

bounds of Fourth Amendment protections.  There is simply no basis 

for suppression. 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, this Court should affirm the district 

court’s denial of Fowler’s motion to suppress evidence.   

DATED this 1st day of February 2022. 

 
 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
LEIF M. JOHNSON 
United States Attorney 
 

 /s/ Jeffrey K. Starnes 
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STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES 

The government is not aware of any related cases. 
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